#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 82918

Electronically Filed Sep 13 2021 12:40 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### SHELBE RIVERA

Appellant,

VS.

#### THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Appeal from Guilty Verdict
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable, District Court Judge Michelle Leavitt
District Court Case No. C-18-333893-1

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JESS R. MARCHESE, ESQ.
Nevada Nar No. 8175
601 Las Vegas Blvd. South
Las Vegas, NV 89101
702-385-5377
Marcheselaw@msn.com
Attorney for Appellant Shelbe Rivera

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney 200 Lewis Ave. 3rd Floor Las Vegas, NV 89155

#### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Appellant brings this direct appeal asking this Court to reverse the jury verdict and resulting judgment of conviction entered against him. Nevada law permits a direct appeal from a final judgment entered against a defendant in a felony criminal case. See NRS 177.015. A jury verdict is a final judgment upon the filing of the judgment of conviction; the verdict against Appellant was filed on March 5, 2021. AA 596. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 11, 2021. AA 597. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on May 12, 2021. AA 600.

#### III.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- A. Whether there was sufficient evidence to convict the Defendant.
- B. Whether the prosecution committed prosecutorial misconduct warranting reversal.
- C. Whether cumulative error warrants reversal.

#### IV.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from a conviction following a verdict following a five-day jury trial. Appellant Rivera challenges the sufficiency of the evidence and argues that the conviction should be reversed for prosecutorial misconduct and cumulative error.

Rivera was not initially declared competent for the purposes of standing prosecution. AA 1. Rivera was indicated to be incompetent, and thus diverted for treatment, as of August 24, 2018. AA 1. Rivera was ordered committed to receive psychological and mental illness treatment, with the aim that he would attain

competency to stand trial. AA 4. Findings of Incompetency and a Second Order of Commitment were entered on July 7, 2019. AA 5.

Rivera was ultimately found to be competent via a Findings of Competency filed on January 13, 2020. AA 9. Rivera was thus incompetent to stand trial, and receiving mental health services, for approximately fifteen (15) months before he became competent to stand trial. An Order of Competency and Remand was filed January 17, 2020. AA 11.

The Criminal Information was eventually filed against Rivera on May 21, 2020. AA 14. Rivera was charged with Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon for the killing of Juan Rincon on or about July 1, 2018. AA 14. Rivera entered a Notice of Entry of Plea of Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity and Intention to Seek a Verdict of Guilty but Mentally Ill if convicted by the jury. AA 17.

The case proceeded to trial on March 1, 2021. AA 19. The State's witnesses at trial were Debbie Andrews, Gayle Johnson, Jamelle Shannon, Christina Martinez, Megan Madonna, Amanda Wright, Tracy Bish, Eric Ravelo, Dr. Lisa Gavin, and Dr. Herbert F. Coard. AA 20. The defense called Dr. Mark Chambers as an expert witness. AA 21. The State then re-called Dr. Coard as a rebuttal witness. *Id*.

At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict of Guilty but Mentally Ill of 2nd Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. AA 596. Rivera was sentenced to a term of 10 years to 25 years for Second Degree Murder, with a consecutive count of 5 years to 15 years for Use of a Deadly Weapon, with 1,033 days served. AA 598. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on May 12, 2021. AA 600.

V.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Both sides agree that on July 1st, 2018, Appellant Rivera stabbed Juan Rincon to death with a knife. AA 210-211; 216. Both sides agreed that Rivera suffered from mental illness, including schizophrenia, which was influencing him at the time of that event. AA 216, 524, 530. Both sides agreed that Rivera stabbed Rincon because Rivera feared that Rincon intended to harm him or presented a danger to Rivera. AA 534; 506.

The central disagreement was whether Rivera's condition met the second prong of Nevada's insanity test, which asks whether the defendant was capable of understanding that his conduct was wrongful when he stabbed Rincon. AA 400. The contested facts at trial centered on the competing expert testimony of the defense's expert witness, Dr. Mark Chambers, and the State's expert witness, Dr. Herbert Coard. Dr. Chambers testified to his expert opinion that Rivera was incapable of perceiving the wrongfulness of his conduct at the time of the incident, while Dr. Coard testified that Rivera understood the wrongful nature of his conduct.

The defense called Dr. Mark Chambers ("Chambers") as an expert witness on the fourth day of trial. AA 449. Chambers is a clinical and forensic psychologist. *Id* at 449:9-11. Chambers testified as to his experience, which included over 20 years of work as a clinical psychologist, as well as a forensic psychologist. AA 450-452.

Chambers evaluated Rivera's mental state at the time of the underlying event. AA 452:5-7. To prepare that evaluation, he reviewed all available documents in the case. AA 452:10-17. He also reviewed extensive medical records, primarily psychiatric records, and documents from various hospitals. AA 452:18-22. He then conducted an interview with Rivera on August 2, 2018, which was approximately one month after the underlying incident occurred on July 1, 2018. AA 453.

Chambers reviewed the psychiatric history of Rivera with him during the interview. AA 455. Chambers testified that "it became clear that [Rivera] had mental health problems for a long time." *Id.* In referencing "multiple mental health hospitalizations," Chambers identified that Rivera had long suffered "various symptoms indicative of a psychosis, a psychotic psychiatric disorder." *Id.* 

Ultimately, Chambers testified that Rivera's psychiatric history, and the other evidence, presented a conclusion which was "consistent with most of the psychiatric records, [...] that he suffers from schizophrenia." *Id*.

Chambers also concluded that Rivera suffered from severe deficiencies in cognition, identifying those mental troubles began at a young age. AA 456. Specifically, Rivera had special education services, then dropped out by ninth grade. He then had one accident, and one fight, which damaged him further. *Id.* Chambers reviewed reports indicating that Rivera had an IQ in the high 60s, which Chambers stated as "associated with mild mental retardation." *Id.* 

Chambers identified that, during the incident, Rivera immediately began experiencing delusional thinking when meeting the victim. AA 459. Specifically, Rivera began feeling concerns that, although he had just met the victim for the first time, the victim knew him, or knew there was a connection between the two of

them. *Id.* Already experiencing these delusions, Rivera and Rincon then smoked marijuana together. *Id.* Rincon and Rivera talked about how Rivera was from New York. *Id.* Then Rincon looked at Rivera with an expression on his face. AA 460. Because Rivera is schizophrenic, and he was delusional, his chain or reasoning involved thinking this man he just met knew him, that there was some east coast against west coast rivalry going on, that this man may be stalking him or spying him, and that Rincon had some secret plan to do Rivera harm. AA 461.

Chambers went on to explain that this manner of delusional thinking was common to schizophrenics, and it is called "ideas of reference." AA 461. This causes the paranoid schizophrenic to perceived unrelated, common events, as "somehow relating to them," that what are in fact normal events create the belief that "normal, ordinary, neutral kinds of things going on" are actually evidence that someone is "here to harm me or he's spying on me or following me, in other words, it's all about him when it's really just a stranger he meets on the street[.]" AA 462.

This delusional manner of thinking led Rivera to perceive an imminent threat of bodily harm that did not really exist. AA 463. Specifically, Rincon asked Rivera to see Rivera's knife. *Id.* Due to Rivera's heightened paranoia and schizophrenic thinking, when Rivera went to retrieve the knife, he started to perceive that once he

got the knife out of the bag, Rincon would do something harmful to him. *Id.* Rivera was, in other words, overwhelmed by the perception that Rincon would immediately do Rivera great harm once Rivera obtained the knife, and that the only way Rivera could prevent this from happening was to kill Rincon before Rincon could do him harm. *Id.* 

Chambers then discussed the fact that Rivera, after stabbing Rincon to death, immediately left all his possessions next to Rincon's body, including various documents which directly identified Rivera. AA 464-465. Rivera put the knife in a dumpster next to Rincon's body. *Id*.

Rivera then walked a long way away to a Best Buy, in Las Vegas, Nevada. *Id*. Continuing his schizophrenic delusion, Rivera reported that while going to the Best Buy store, he passed by a "waterfall." *Id*. Rivera reported that he washed in the "waterfall" and continued walking. AA 465. Rivera wandered in the roadway, and a police officer told him to leave the roadway. *Id*.

Police later brought Rivera to a shelter, where Rivera continued to experience delusional schizophrenic thinking. Specifically, he perceived a connection between the common grey clothes worn by other people at the shelter, and they grey shirt

Rincon was wearing. AA 466. He also saw a Nicki Minaj (a musician and rapper) music video, which he perceived to be about himself. *Id*.

Chambers also testified that, at the time of the interview, Rivera was functioning on a higher level than was otherwise reflected in his historical psychiatric records, which contained evidence of a history of auditory hallucinations and paranoia. AA 469. Chambers found this to be because, by the time the interview occurred, Rivera was receiving treatment and was on psychotic medication. *Id.* The fact that Rivera was presenting as better-functioning during the interview, than at past times indicated in his medical records, was evidence that Rivera was not "malingering." AA 469-470. Malingering means faking a mental illness. *Id.* Chambers indicated that almost no one is good at faking schizophrenia, and it would be especially hard with someone with Rivera's low IQ to do so. *Id.* 

Chambers further testified that, at the time of the incident, he did not believe Rivera was taking medication for schizophrenia. AA 472. Chambers discussed the fact that Rivera's medical history was very cyclical: Rivera would go off his medication, be ravaged by mental illness, then he would end up in a hospital or medical setting, where he would receive treatment that would remedy those delusions, after which Rivera would be released, and he would then fail to keep

taking medication, and the process would repeat itself. AA 472-473. Rivera being homeless, and having no income, would contribute to his repeated failure to stay on his medication and end up in a delusional state. AA 473.

Chambers then testified about his ultimate conclusions in his report: specifically, whether Rivera was insane (under Nevada's test) at the time he stabbed Rincon. AA 474-474. Chambers expressed that delusional schizophrenia was present at the time of the event, as evidenced by paranoid delusions about the stuff that was going on around him being orientated towards him, including the belief that others (Rincon) intended him immediate harm. *Id.* Chambers testified as to his expert belief that Rivera did know the nature of the act, or in other words, that Rivera knew he was stabbing a human being, rather than doing something else. AA 475.

Next, as to whether Rivera knew his conduct was wrongful, Chambers testified that Rivera was, at that time, psychotic and had garbled mental processes. *Id.* This garbled thinking process only permitted Rivera to convey that he perceived that he was in fear, and that he perceived Rincon was about to do something to him. AA 476. Rivera told Chambers that Rivera stabbed Rincon, intending to kill him, because he "needed to kill him to protect myself, those are the words that he used."

AA 483. Chambers also focused on the fact that there was no rational motive for the attack, as Rivera thought Rincon was friendly. AA 477.

The State's expert witness at trial was psychologist Herbert F. Coard III ("Coard"). AA 496. Mr. Coard is a forensic psychologist with a background serving in that capacity for the Federal Bureau of Prisons. AA 389. Coard testified that he reviewed the subject's interview, the autopsy of the deceased, the records in the investigation file, as well as the defendant's history of psychiatric hospitalization. AA 390.

In this case, Coard agreed with almost all the conclusions found by Dr. Chambers. Coard found that Rivera was under a delusion at the time of the event. AA 504. He further found that the delusion which was occurring at the time of the event was caused by Rivera's schizophrenia, in agreeance with Dr. Chambers. *Id.* Coard and Chambers further agreed that Rivera knew what he was doing, i.e., that he was stabbing a human rather than doing some other physical act. AA 505.

However, Coard found that Rivera knew what he was doing was not authorized by law. AA 506. He based this conclusion on the fact that Rivera put the knife in the dumpster after the stabbing, and that Rivera left the crime scene, which Coard took to be evidence of his consciousness of guilt. *Id*.

## **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

#### A. <u>Insufficient Evidence</u>.

"The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Leonard v. State*, 114 Nev. 1196, 1209-10 (Nev. 1998) citing *Kazalyn v. State*, 108 Nev. 67, 71, 825 P.2d 578, 581 (1992). There is sufficient evidence if the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, would allow any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id* citing *Davis v. State*, 110 Nev. 1107, 1116, 881 P.2d 657, 663 (1994) (citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979)).

Nevada, like several other states, has implicitly considered insufficiency of the evidence challenges, even when raised in relation to a defendant's burden of proving an insanity defense. *Hudson v. State*, 108 Nev. 716, 720 (Nev. 1992)(considering appellant's insufficiency of the evidence argument relating to his claim of insanity). *See also State v. France*, 279 Neb. 49, 56 (Neb. 2009) ("The verdict of the finder of fact on the issue of insanity will not be disturbed unless there is insufficient evidence to support such a finding. *Id.*"); *People v. Castaneda*,

B213678, at \*1 (Cal. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2010). ("This claim is, in actuality, a contention that insufficient evidence supported the trial court's finding that he was sane at the time he committed the crimes.").

NRS 174.035(6) expressly permits a criminal defendant to enter a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. Under this plea, a defendant has the burden "to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that" he or she did not "[k]now or understand the nature and capacity of his or her act" or "[a]ppreciate that his or her conduct was wrong" due to a "delusional state" caused by "a disease or defect of the mind." NRS 174.035(6), discussed by *Pundyk v. State*, 467 P.3d 605, 607 (Nev. 2020). "Because a finding of criminal liability requires a conclusion that a defendant's culpable mental state existed contemporaneously with a culpable act, a successful insanity defense must show the elements of [legal insanity] existed *at the time of the act.* "*Miller v. State*, 112 Nev. 168, 172, 911 P.2d 1183, 1185 (1996).

Both sides agree that on July 1st, 2018, Appellant Rivera stabbed Juan Rincon to death with a knife. AA 210-211; 216. Both sides agreed that Rivera suffered from mental illness, including schizophrenia, which was influencing him at the time of that event. AA 216, 524, 530. Both sides agreed that Rivera stabbed

 Rincon because Rivera feared that Rincon intended to harm him or presented a danger to Rivera. AA 534; 506.

The central disagreement was whether Rivera's condition met the second prong of Nevada's insanity test, which asks whether the defendant was capable of understanding that is conduct was wrongful when he stabbed Rincon. AA 400. As such the contested facts at trial centered on the competing expert testimony of the defense's expert witness, Dr. Mark Chambers, and the State's expert witness, Dr. Herbert Coard.

As noted above, Chambers testimony showed that Rivera lacked an understanding of the wrongful nature of his conduct. This was because Rivera was experiencing a psychological delusion in which he perceived the delusional necessity to immediately kill Rincon, and that if he did not do so, Rincon would kill him.

In support of this conclusion, Chambers testified that Rivera's psychiatric history, and the other evidence, presented a conclusion which was "consistent with most of the psychiatric records, [...] that he suffers from schizophrenia." Chambers also concluded that Rivera suffered from severe deficiencies in cognition, identifying those mental troubles began at a young age. AA 456.

Chambers identified that, during the incident, Rivera experienced delusional thinking when meeting the victim, in that Rivera began to think that they knew each other, that there was an east coast vs. west coast rivalry, and that Rincon was stalking him or spying on him. AA 459-461. This delusional manner of thinking led Rivera to perceive an imminent threat of bodily harm that did not really exist, when he perceived that Rincon would kill him, unless Rivera killed him first. AA 461-463.

The State and its expert, Dr. Coard, wrongly relied upon the fact that Rivera did not experience delusions of specific subsidiary facts would justify his conviction that it was necessary to kill Rincon. For example, the State cited the fact that Rivera did not claim he perceived Rincon had threatened him, or that Rincon had a weapon, and instead only reported that heh experienced an inexplicable conviction that it was necessary to kill Rincon in order to preserve Rivera's own life.

This view of the evidence misperceives what is necessary to establish an insanity defense. The defense was only required to establish that Rivera could not "[a]ppreciate that his or her conduct was wrong" due to a "delusional state" caused by "a disease or defect of the mind." NRS 174.035(6). In this case, Rivera could not

appreciate that his conduct was wrongful because he experienced a schizophrenic delusion that the only way to save his own life was to immediately kill Rincon. The fact that Rivera did not imagine Rincon threatening him with a weapon is not dispositive. While it is true that Rivera imagining Rincon attacking him with a weapon would establish insanity under NRS 174.035(6), this is not the only type of delusion which would cause Rivera to fail to identify his conduct as being wrongful.

There appears to be some suggestion in this case that Rivera could not have experienced the delusional belief that it was necessary to kill Rincon because he did not claim to have imagined Rincon threatening him with a weapon. The logic seems to be that reasonable people only perceive the need for self-defense when confronted with threats and weapons, because normal people would only perceive actual danger under those or similar circumstances. The problem here is that Rivera was not a normal reasonable person at the time of this event. He was, in fact, experiencing a schizophrenic delusion. Part of that paranoid delusion was that Rincon had the inexplicable ability to immediately end Rivera's life, if Rivera did not immediately act, even though Rincon apparently lacked possession of a weapon. This is, in fact, what makes Rivera insane: he perceives the same certainty as to an

imminent danger that a normal person might perceive because someone is pointing a gun at them, without having reason to believe someone is pointing a gun at them.

The insanity defense should apply where Rivera experiences an otherwise-indescribable delusion that the *only way* to prevent Rincon from immediately killing him is to kill Rincon first. Under such circumstances, the killing would appear reasonably necessary to the person experiencing the delusion, and thus they could not possibly appreciate the wrongfulness of their conduct. That the experience of that necessity is delusional, and inexplicable in terms of the actual circumstances, or inexplicable in terms of ordinary logic, is precisely why the insane person is insane, and is not able to perceive the wrongfulness of their decision-making.

It must be sufficient for an insanity defense to establish that the defendant was propelled by a sincerely held delusional belief in the necessity of their conduct, as no insane person acting under a delusion of necessity could simultaneously perceive the wrongness of their conduct. The must be overturned for insufficient evidence on this basis.

### 

#### 

#### 

## 

# 

### 

# 

# 

#### 

### 

#### 

## 

## 

#### 

## 

#### 

# 

# 

# 

## 

#### 

#### B. <u>Prosecutorial Misconduct.</u>

#### i. Standard of Review.

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