IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SHELBE RIVERA,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 08 2021 03:03 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 82918

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JESS R. MARCHESE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #008175 601 Las Vegas Blvd. South Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 385-5377 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

In re-approving Nevada's historical adoption of the M'Naghten rule, the <u>Finger</u> Court noted that in addition to using the M'Naghten rule to determine insanity, Nevada has "also adopted the M'Naghten guideline for evaluating delusional states as they relate to the concept of legal insanity." <u>Id.</u> at 563, 27 P.3d at 76. The Court explained:

if a jury believes [the defendant] was suffering from a delusional state, and if the facts as he believed them to be in his delusional state would justify his actions, he is insane and entitled to acquittal. If, however, the delusional facts would not amount to a legal defense, then he is not insane. Persons suffering from a delusion that someone is shooting at them, so they shot back in self-defense are insane under M'Naghten. Persons who are paranoid and believe that the victim is going to get them some time in the future, so they hunt down the victim first, are not.

Id. at 576, 27 P.3d at 85.

"In order to be considered legally insane under M'Naghten, a defendant must labor under a delusion so great that he is incapable of appreciating his surroundings." <u>Id</u>. The Court gave two examples in explaining such delusions, which "must do one of two things: (1) rob the defendant of the ability to understand what he is doing" for example, a defendant who thinks he is shooting at a human-shaped target rather than a person—"or (2) deprive the defendant of the ability to appreciate that his action is wrong, that is, not authorized by law"—for example, a defendant who thinks he is shooting at enemy combatants in battle. <u>Id.</u> at 556–57, 27 P.3d at 72. The Court expanded on this second example: An individual who labors under the *total delusion that they are a soldier in a war and are shooting at enemy soldiers* is not capable of forming the intent to kill with malice aforethought. His delusional state prohibits him from forming the requisite *mens reas*, because he *believes that his killing is authorized by law*. He is legally insane under M'Naghten.

Id. at 574–75, 27 P.3d at 84 (emphases added).

"It is the jury's province to determine whether a defendant is legally insane." <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 716, 720, 837 P.2d 1361, 1364 (1992). In <u>Hudson</u>, the defendant was charged with attempted murder. <u>Id.</u> at 716, 837 P.2d at 1362. At trial, the defendant called a psychiatrist to assist in establishing an insanity defense. <u>Id.</u> at 719-20, 837 P.2d at 1363-64. The State did not call an expert witness to testify that the defendant was sane. <u>Id.</u> at 721, 837 P.2d at 1364. The jury convicted the defendant and he appealed claiming the only reasonable verdict was not guilty by reason of insanity. <u>Id.</u> at 720, 837 P.2d at 1364. The Nevada Supreme Court held that jury ultimately determines the validity of an insanity defense, and they are entitled to discount expert testimony. <u>Id.</u> at 720-21, 837 P.2d at 1364.

There is no disagreement that there was sufficient evidence to establish that Appellant killed Juan. The State proved Appellant committed the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant only argues that the jury should not have rejected his insanity defense. At trial, both Dr. Coard and Dr. Chambers testified regarding Appellant's mental state. The testimony consisted of two expert witness who arrived at different conclusions. Both experts agreed that Appellant was delusional but understood the nature and capacity of his actions. The only disagreement was whether he could understand the wrongfulness of his conduct.

Dr. Coard testified in detail about his interview with Appellant and how he arrived at his conclusion. Throughout the interview, Appellant made it clear that "he did not believe that Juan was going to kill him" and that "he did know it was wrong" to kill him. II AA 399-400. Additionally, Appellant's attempts to avoid getting caught, such as throwing away the knife and shirt, led him to conclude that he could appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions. II AA 401. Meanwhile, Dr. Chambers focused his analysis on his belief that Appellant lacked a clear motive. II AA 476.

This is precisely the type of credibility determination that a jury is in the best position to determine. <u>See Hudson</u>, 108 Nev. at 720-21, 837 P.2d 1364. Both the State and Appellant provided the jury with different explanations of Appellant's mental state. When left to make that decision, the jury decided that Appellant failed to meet his burden and establish that he did not understand the wrongfulness of his actions. Based on the evidence at trial, reasonable juror could arrive at this outcome. As such, Appellant fails to establish there was insufficient evidence to convict him. Accordingly, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction

II. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WARRANTING REVERSAL

11

Appellant argues that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct. This Court reviews claims of prosecutorial misconduct for improper conduct and then determines whether reversal is warranted. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). It reviews improper conduct claims for harmless error. Id. Where no objection was made at trial, the standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial.'" Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (*citing* Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the proceedings with unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process. Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S. Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). Defendant must show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied a substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. Libby, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054.

In resolving claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court undertakes a twostep analysis: determining whether the comments were improper; and deciding whether the comments were sufficient to deny the defendant a fair trial. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon a defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial.'" <u>Riker</u>, 111 Nev. at 1328, 905 P.2d at 713; <u>Libby</u>, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054. This is based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not necessarily a perfect one. <u>Ross v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990).

With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse if the misconduct was harmless error. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> at 1188-89, 196 P.3d at 476. Misconduct may be constitutional if a prosecutor comments on the exercise of a constitutional right, or the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Id.</u> 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476-77 (quoting <u>Darden</u>, 477 U.S. at 181, 106 S. Ct. at 2471). When the misconduct is of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse unless the State demonstrates that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Id.</u> When the misconduct is not of constitutional dimension, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." <u>Id.</u>

A. Prosecutorial Misconduct Did Not Occur When the State Referred to the Killing as "Murder"

Appellant argues that it is prosecutorial misconduct for the State to refer to him killing Juan as "murder" during trial. The State is entitled to pursue its theory of the case. Here, the theory was that Appellant committed murder by stabbing and cutting Juan forty-two times. There is no illusion that the State's position is anything but this. Both at the start of trial and in the jury instructions, the Court informs the jury that the State charges the defendant with murder. I AA 27; III AA 558. It is consistent with this that the State be able to refer to Appellant's actions as murder. As such, Appellant is unable to establish prosecutorial misconduct.

Regardless, any error was not of a constitutional dimension and did not substantially affect the jury's verdict. Throughout trial, there was no contention that Appellant killed Juan. He admitted as much in opening statement and even referred to it as murder:

I'm going to be brief. I do agree with the State, we will disagree on many things, but I do believe that we would submit to you fine folks that this is a very simple, straightforward case even though it is very serious, it is a **murder**.

He left calling cards, ladies and gentlemen. Yes, he got rid of the knife, they will show that. It was in the Dumpster, they will show you a picture of that.

I AA 213, 216 (emphases added). Additionally, Appellant is only able to illustrate four instances where the State refers to it as "murder." There is no reason to believe that these references would have any effect on the jury's verdict. Accordingly, this

Court should affirm Appellant's conviction.

B. The State's Comment Regarding a Lack of Rational Motivation Does Not Warrant Reversal

During closing argument, the prosecutor began to relay her experience as a

prosecutor. III AA 546. Defense counsel quickly objected, and the objection was

sustained. III AA 546. "A prosecutor's comments should be considered in context, and 'a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001) (quoting <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S.Ct 1038 (1985)). Notably, "statements by a prosecutor, in argument ... made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable." <u>Parker v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068 (1993) (quoting <u>Collins v. State</u>, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)). Further, the State may respond to defense theories and arguments. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018-19, 945 P.2d 438, 444-445 (1997), receded from on other grounds, Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

Appellant relies on <u>Collier v. State</u>. 101 Nev. 473, 705 P.2d 1126 (1985) to argue that reversal is warranted. However, the facts of <u>Collier</u> are easily distinguishable from this case. In <u>Collier</u>, the prosecutor, on multiple occasions, inflamed the jury by making uniquely improper statements. <u>Id.</u> at 478-80, 705 P.2d at 1129-30. These included: (1) referencing the heinous actions of a different death row inmate; (2) inflaming the jury by telling them that the death penalty is the only "moral" choice; and (3) turning to the defendant and telling him "You deserve to die." <u>Id.</u> According to the Supreme Court of Nevada, these statements only may have been grounds for reversal. <u>Id.</u> at 481, 705 P.2d at 1131 ("In a particular case, any of

them alone might be a ground for reversal. In the instant case, we need not so hold, but need only consider whether their cumulative impact . . . warrants the granting of a new penalty hearing.").

Here, the statement would not have substantially affected the jury's verdict. Unlike the statements in <u>Collier</u> designed to inflame the jury, the prosecutor's statement only attempted to explain that individuals can act without a clear motive. This statement alone is proper argument. The expression of her personal experience played a minor role in the argument. This combined with the district court limiting further discussion of the issue prevented it from effecting the jury's verdict. As such, any error does not warrant reversal.

Appellant then argues that the comment violates the Confrontation Clause as it amounted to testimony. The Confrontation Clause "applies to 'witnesses' against the accused–in other words, those who 'bear testimony." <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct 1354, 1364 (2004). Statements by counsel during closing argument constitute neither testimony nor evidence. The purpose of closing argument is for counsel to refresh the jury's memory on the evidence as well as illustrate the application of the facts to the law. Accordingly, any statement made by counsel would not implicate the Confrontation Clause as they are not a witness. Therefore, this argument is meritless and should be denied.

Appellant also claims the statement is improper because it said a lack of motivation is not part of the analysis for an insanity defense. However, Dr. Coard testified that conducting an evaluation does not necessarily examine motivation:

Q [Mr. Marchese]: And based on your investigation and reading of the reports, were you ever able to discern a motive for the incident

A [Dr. Coard]: My job in conducting a not-guilty-byreason-of-insanity evaluation does not examine motivation.

II AA 430. The State's comment is nothing more than a reiteration of Dr. Coard's statement that motivation is not necessary factor for an insanity evaluation. The State further elaborates on the comment on this after the objection is sustained:

There is no standard whatsoever that you have to establish a rational basis for this killing. That's not based in law, that's not based in science, that's purely Dr. Chambers' opinion. But it's not part of your standard.

III AA 546. Contrary to Appellant's argument, the State's comments do not improperly characterize the law when considered in the proper context. As such, Appellant is unable to demonstrate they were improper.

C. The State's Comments Regarding the Insanity Defense Were Proper

Appellant claims that the State's argument constituted prosecutorial misconduct because it conflated both self-defense and an insanity defense. At no point did the State mislead the jury regarding the defenses. The State's argument was that appellant's delusional beliefs did not amount to a legal defense which would

mean he is not insane. This is proper statement of law and a relies on Jury Instruction No. Twenty-One:

> If a defendant was suffering from a delusional state and if the facts as he believed them, while in that delusional state, would have justified his action, he is insane and entitled to an acquittal. **If, however, the delusional facts would not amount to a legal defense, then he is not insane.**

III AA 576 (emphases added). The State supported its argument by referring to Appellant's statements and how his delusion involved a future event. These comments do not conflate an insanity defense with self-defense, but rather say there was no underlying justification even according to Appellant's delusional beliefs.

Additionally, the State clarifies this right after the statement Appellant quotes:

The reason for this is because when we have a not guilty by reason of insanity, that delusion that the defendant was under must justify his actions. And the only way that those conceptually could be justified is if it were self-defense. That's why I'm explaining it in this manner.

III AA 547. As such, the State's argument is a proper statement of law and application of facts to the law and thus and could not mislead the jury. Therefore, Appellant fails to establish prosecutorial misconduct.

D. Appellant's Arguments for Prosecutorial Misconduct Do Not Involve a Constitutional Dimension

Any misconduct following Appellant's arguments would not be of a constitutional dimension. None of these statements constitute a comment on "the exercise of a constitutional right" or a denial of due process. <u>Id.</u> 124 Nev. at 1189,

196 P.3d 476-77 (quoting <u>Darden</u>, 477 U.S. at 181, 106 S. Ct. at 2471). As such, the analysis need only focus on whether the error substantially affected the jury's verdict. However, even under a harmless error analysis, the following comments were so minor in mature as to not affect the verdict. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Judgment of conviction regardless of whether any error was of a constitutional dimension.

III. THERE WAS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR

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